Advances and perspectives in gene-based therapy for breast cancer

Emanuela Vattemi¹, Pier Paolo Claudio^{2*}

¹Division of Medical Oncology, Central Regional Hospital, Bolzano, Italy; ²Department of Biochemistry and Microbiology and Department of Surgery, Joan C. Edwards School of Medicine, Marshall University, Huntington, WV 25755, USA. *Correspondence: claudiop@marshall.edu

CONTENTS

Abstract
Introduction
Delivery systems for gene therapy507
Adenoviral p53 therapy508
The <i>E1A</i> gene509
Suicide gene approach510
Bcl-2 targeting511
RAS targeting511
Manipulation of drug resistance512
Immunomodulatory approaches512
Cytokine genes512
Antigen molecule genes513
Conclusions
References

Abstract

Breast cancer is one of the leading causes of cancer-related death in the developed world. Conventional treatments are not adequate for a majority of patients with metastatic disease; consequently, novel therapeutic strategies are in high demand. Gene therapy constitutes an experimental approach gaining increased attention as a putative future therapeutic strategy for cancer. Using this strategy, cancer cytotoxicity can be obtained by replacement of tumor suppressor gene function or by blockade of dominant oncogene function. Genetic prodrug activation therapy and genetic immunomodulation are also showing remarkable promise. This review presents an update on the experimental and clinical results obtained in the field of breast cancer gene therapy.

Introduction

Although a significant number of new anticancer agents have been developed and there has been some improvement in the overall survival rate for patients with breast cancer, the life expectancy for patients who develop metastases is limited. Therefore, there is an urgent

need to develop novel systemic strategies for this major health problem. Gene therapy is the introduction and expression of recombinant genes in somatic cells for the purpose of treating a disease. This approach has been used in multiple clinical trials with different experimental gene therapies. This article reviews the most important strategies in breast cancer gene therapy: 1) the use of tumor suppressor genes to restore a normal functional gene to cancer cells; 2) the use of antisense oligonucleotides to prevent the expression of oncogenes; 3) the use of a suicide gene approach utilizing genes expressing enzymes that can selectively activate specific prodrugs; 4) the use of a multidrug resistance gene to protect bone marrow during chemotherapy by transducing a drug resistance gene into marrow stem cells; and 5) the use of immunomodulatory strategies. Following a review of the current delivery systems used for gene therapy, we will discuss recent achievements in these different gene therapy strategies for breast cancer, including details and results from several clinical trials (Table I).

Delivery systems for gene therapy

Current delivery systems for gene therapy include viral and nonviral vectors. Early gene therapy studies and clinical trials employed retroviruses as vectors. Although they have the advantage of permanent integration into cellular DNA, retroviruses have a limited carrying capacity of roughly 8-12 kb, are reproduced at lower titers and are vulnerable to serum complement inactivation. Also, retroviruses permanently infect epithelial and hematopoietic cells, which can be a safety concern. Lastly, with stable integration into the host genome, retrovirus vectors can transduce only tumor cells that are actively dividing (1, 2).

Adenoviruses have a 36-kb chromosome complement with 6 gene products early in the course of infection and 3 late gene products at the onset of DNA replication. *E1A*, the first early gene, encodes two proteins via alternative splicing that suppress or activate transcription of viral and cellular genes and regulate the cell cycle. Therefore, in gene therapy studies, the majority of adenoviral vectors

Table I: Published clinical trials of gene therapy for breast cancer.

Gene target	Mechanism	Delivery system	Delivery mode	Comments	Ref.
p53	Gene replacement	Adenovirus	Intratumoral	Different solid tumors (1 breast cancer patient)	25
p53	Gene replacement	Adenovirus	Intravenous	Safety of i.v. Ad5CMV-p53	26
p53	Gene replacement	Adenovirus	Intravenous	Neoadjuvant breast cancer	27
E1A	Growth factor	Liposome	Intratumoral	Minimal toxicity, modest response	43
E1A	Growth factor	Liposome	Intratumoral	Minimal toxicity	44
HSV-TK	Suicide gene therapy	Plasmid	Intratumoral	Targeting erbB-2 cancer cells using a tumor-specific erbB-2 promoter	53
CYP2B6	Suicide gene therapy	Retrovirus	Intravenous	Breast cancer and melanoma patients	54
BCL2	Antisense		Intravenous	Oblimersen + weekly docetaxel	66
RAS	Antisense		Intravenous	ISIS-2503 + gemcitabine	71
RAS	Antisense		Intravenous	ISIS-2503 + paclitaxel	72
MDR1	Drug resistance	Retrovirus	Ex vivo	Low transduction efficiency without cytokines	76
MDR1	Drug resistance	Retrovirus	Ex vivo	Good transduction efficiency with cytokines	77
MDR1	Drug resistance	Retrovirus	Ex vivo	Acceptable transduction efficiency with cytokines	78
IL-12	Immunomodulation	Retrovirus	Ex vivo	Good response rate	81
IL-2	Immunomodulation	Adenovirus	Intratumoral	Good safety	85
STn-KLH	Immunomodulation	Theratope®	Intramuscular	Phase III: CY + KLH vs. CY + STn-KLH	90
MUC1	Immunomodulation	Vaccinia virus (TG1031)	Intramuscular	Good biological efficacy	91
MUC1	Immunomodulation	Vaccinia virus (TG1031)	Intramuscular	48% stable disease	92
MUC1	Immunomodulation	Vaccinia virus (TG4010)	Intramuscular	No objective response	93

developed have a deletion of the *E1* early gene. This allows the virus to be infective but nonreplicative. Adenoviruses transduce epithelial cells with a high frequency but do not transduce bone marrow cells. The adenovirus is highly immunogenic and does not usually integrate into cellular DNA, making the expression of the transgene mostly temporary (3, 4).

Adeno-associated virus (AAV) has also been investigated as a potential vector for gene delivery. The AAV can integrate stably into the host cell genome at a site-specific area on chromosome 19 and it then remains dormant until infection with a helper virus allows its replication. Advantages of the AAV are that it is not implicated in any human disease and that integration into the host genome does not affect cell replication. However, the AAV has not been used clinically to date because it has a small capacity to hold DNA and it has not been produced in high titers (5, 6).

Another viral vector that has been used is the herpes simplex virus (HSV) (7, 8). HSV infects a wide range of cell types with prolonged expression and high titers. The vector is large and can carry multiple genes. However, because of its large genome, HSV is quite complex and

can be difficult to manipulate. In addition, the virus itself could be cytotoxic. Because of these difficulties, few clinical trials have employed this virus as a vector.

Nonviral vector strategies have employed primarily naked plasmid complementary DNA (cDNA) either alone or coated onto gold particles, liposomes that contain cationic lipids and neutral or helper co-lipids and nonlipidic polycationic polymer complexes with DNA (9, 10). Nonviral vectors have potential advantages over viral systems: 1) cellular transfection does not require specific receptors; 2) nonimmunogenic formulations can be administered repeatedly; 3) the vector can package large DNA constructs; and 4) the vectors are safe and easy to produce. Unfortunately, however, nonviral vectors suffer from low transduction efficiencies and mediate only transient gene expression. In addition, release of plasmid DNA and/or components of the vector can mediate inflammatory and/or immune reactions.

Adenoviral p53 therapy

The most extensively studied tumor suppressor gene is *p53*. The *p53* gene is located on chromosome 17p and

encodes a 393-amino-acid protein that is critical to tumor biology (11-13). The general purpose of *p53* appears to be maintenance of the genetic integrity of the cell and induction of apoptosis when DNA damage is too great to guarantee a normal progeny cell. It affects: 1) cell cycle regulation; 2) cellular apoptosis; and 3) DNA repair. All these functions are dependent on the regulation of different proteins, such as p21, which inhibits CDK4 and CDK6 and is necessary for G1 to S transition, BAX (positive regulator of apoptosis), Mdm2 (negative regulator of *p53* function), thrombospondin-1 (inhibitor of angiogenesis), GADD45 (facilitator of DNA repair) and IGF-BP3 (a growth regulator).

Mutations in the TP53 gene are the most frequent genetic changes in human cancer and, depending on the method of detection, the frequencies of TP53 mutations reported in invasive breast cancer range from 12% to 46% (14, 15). The majority of studies suggest that the presence of p53 dysfunction correlates with more aggressive tumors, early metastasis and decreased survival rates (16, 17).

There are conflicting data regarding *p53* as a predictor of response to therapy. Preclinical studies have reported the introduction of a wild-type *p53* gene into breast cancer cells with a mutant *p53* genotype using a variety of delivery mechanisms, including retroviral vectors, lipid complexes and adenoviral vectors. Results demonstrated that expression of the transgene product provides a normally functioning wild-type *p53* protein within the malignant cell and expression of the transgene product has been shown to induce tumor regression and improve survival in animal models (18-22). Preclinical studies also revealed enhanced efficacy when combined with chemotherapy or radiation therapy (23, 24).

A phase I dose-escalation study of single intratumoral injection of a replication-defective adenoviral expression vector containing wild-type *p53* was carried out in patients with metastatic melanoma or breast cancer with increased p53 protein immunoreactivity in pretreatment tumor biopsies. A total of 6 (5 melanoma and 1 breast adenocarcinoma) patients were treated at dose levels depending on tumor size/dose-escalation sequence. Five of 6 patients became positive for the transfer of wild-type *p53* into tumor tissue 2 days after injection of the vector. Of the 4 patients assayed, all developed anti-adenoviral antibodies. Adverse reactions associated with intratumoral injection were mild, with no obvious correlation between the incidence, severity or relationship of the events and drug dose (25).

In a recent paper, intravenous administration of Ad5CMV-p53 (INGN 201, Advexin®; Introgen Therapeutics), a replication-defective type 5 adenovirus (Ad5) vector that contains a cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter and a wild-type *p53* gene construct, was investigated in patients with a variety of solid tumors, including 2 breast cancer patients (26). Results demonstrated that Ad5CMV-p53 can be safely and repeatedly administered up to 1 x 10¹² vector particles (vp) i.v. daily for 3 consecutive days. The absence of severe toxicities, the presence

of circulating adenovirus 24 h after administration, and detectable *p53* transgene within tumor tissue distant from the site of administration were seen.

A recently completed study explored Ad-p53 combined with chemotherapy (27). Patients with locally advanced breast cancer were treated with intratumoral injections of Ad5CMV-p53 on days 1 and 2 plus docetaxel 75 mg/m² i.v., doxorubicin 50 mg/m² i.v. on day 1 and prophylactic granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF). Thirteen patients were enrolled, with a median age of 56 years (range = 39-71) and a median tumor size of 8.0 cm (range = 5-11 cm). Up to 6 cycles of Advexin® were given, and all patients had surgery. Eight patients (83%) had p53 mutations. The toxicity profile for Ad-p53 in combination with the other agents was similar to that for Ad-p53 and chemotherapy alone, and no grade 3 adverse events were considered to be related to Ad-p53 (27). Twelve patients were evaluated for response and all 12 achieved an objective clinical response, although none of the patients achieved a pathological complete response. Eight patients (67%) had residual pathological foci of disease in the breast of < 10 mm. The mean size of the residual tumor in the breast was 1.78 cm. All specimens showed extensive T-lymphocyte infiltration (CD3, 80%; CD4, 30%; CD8, 70%).

Recently, a retrospective exploratory analysis was performed of patients with locally advanced breast cancer who were treated at the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center with protocol MDA ID-97099 (27). The objectives of the analysis were to describe and compare the clinical and pathological response in sizeand volume-matched patients who were treated with the combination of docetaxel and doxorubicin versus a group of patients who received the same regimen with local injection of a nonreplicating adenoviral vector (Ad5) containing the human wild-type p53 transgene (Ad5CMVp53) (see above). Data from 22 consecutive patients were collected who had an initial presentation that more closely matched that of the 12 patients who received combination treatment. The historic comparison demonstrated that there was a significantly improved clinical response with the combination regimen (41% vs. 100%; p = 0.0006). These data demonstrate that combination of Advexin®/docetaxel/doxorubicin has significant therapeutic activity and could represent an interesting approach in the treatment of primary breast cancer.

The E1A gene

The *E1A* gene functions as a tumor inhibitor by repressing oncoproteins and sensitizing cancer cells to chemotherapeutic and radiation treatments. The interaction of E1A, a nuclear phosphoprotein, with a wide range of cellular proteins in multiple signal transduction pathways (cell cycle, DNA damage, histone deacetylation) results in multiple biological activities. *E1A* was initially appreciated for its ability to repress transcription, leading to downregulation of HER-2/neu protein and resulting in loss of malignant phenotypes (28-30). The antioncogenic

activity of the E1A gene, however, is not limited to tumors that overexpress HER-2/neu. E1A also modulates the expression of other genes, resulting in differentiation of certain cancer cells. Studies of immune-mediated rejection of rodent cells transformed by human adenovirus serotypes 2 and 5 (Ad2/5) led to the discovery that Ad2/5mediated E1A gene expression actively induces cellular susceptibility to immune-mediated killing, a process that is independent of cellular expression of p53 (31-33). Other studies revealed that E1A expression also sensitizes cells to apoptotic cell death in response to chemotherapeutic agents through both p53-dependent and -independent mechanisms (34-36). Finally, E1A has also been shown to enhance antitumor activity in response to etoposide, cisplatin, paclitaxel and doxorubicin (36-39). Several studies have also demonstrated a significant tumor radiosensitization response to E1A therapy. Investigations using cationic liposomes mixed with plasmid DNA encoding for E1A have shown safety and efficacy in animal models, as well as preliminary safety and activity in clinical trials (40-42).

At the M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, a phase I trial was performed to assess biological activity (E1A gene transfer/transcription/translation and HER-2/neu expression) and to determine the maximum tolerated dose (MTD) of local administration of E1A-lipid complex. Eighteen patients with metastatic breast cancer (n=6) or recurrent or metastatic ovarian cancer (n=12) overexpressing HER-2/neu were treated using a local injection of E1A gene-liposome into skin lesions or pleural/peritoneal effusion (43). The treatment was well tolerated and no serious adverse events other than fever or pain at the injection site were reported. E1A gene expression in tumor cells was detected by immunohistochemical staining and by reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). E1A gene expression was accompanied by HER-2/neu downregulation, increased apoptosis and reduced proliferation. Although clinical response was not an endpoint in this trial, stable disease at the injection sites and improved performance status were noted in 3 patients. One of these patients was a 39-year-old white woman who experienced recurrent metastatic breast cancer after high-dose chemotherapy and autologous transplantation. The recurrence of disease in her right thoracic cavity with accompanying pleural effusion was manifested by the presence of a nonproductive cough accompanied by pleuritic chest pain and elevated serum CEA and CA 27.29 levels. After receiving 2 cycles of E1A gene therapy, she showed a significant improvement in breathing, accompanied by disappearance of pleuritic chest pain. In addition, elevated CEA and CA 27.29 levels in serum and CEA level in the pleural fluid returned to normal over the 2 cycles.

In a small pilot study in 9 patients with recurrent, unresectable breast cancer and 9 patients with recurrent, unresectable head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC), the *E1A* gene was administered using a lipid complex and minimal toxicity was observed (44). *E1A* transfection was confirmed in 14 of 15 tumor samples

tested and downregulation of *HER-2/neu* was demonstrated in 2 of 5 patients who overexpressed *HER-2/neu* at baseline. Response to the injection was modest. The combination of the *E1A* gene with chemotherapy or radiation therapy is currently being investigated in clinical studies.

Suicide gene approach

Suicide gene therapy, also called gene-directed enzyme prodrug therapy (GDEPT), involves the delivery of genes encoding metabolic enzymes which convert systemic, innocuous prodrugs to toxic metabolites (45). This strategy is a two-step process. First, a vector delivers a gene into tumor cells, which leads to expression of an enzyme. Second, a prodrug that is activated selectively by the enzyme is administered. Because the activating enzyme is present only in tumor cells, these cells selectively accumulate high concentrations of active toxic drug, thereby avoiding systemic toxicity. However, not only transduced cells but also circumferential cells are reported to die with this gene therapy. This phenomenon is known as the "bystander effect". The molecular mechanisms of these bystander effects have now been characterized, and can be divided into chemical and immunological bystander effects (46, 47). In vivo, both of these effects may be observed within the same experiment, but with different kinetics.

More than 20 suicide gene therapy systems have been identified and tested in a variety of cancers, although the two most advanced are HSV-1 thymidine kinase (TK) using the antiviral prodrug ganciclovir and Escherichia coli cytosine deaminase (CD) using the prodrug 5-fluorocytosine. Preclinical studies with the HSV-TK gene followed by ganciclovir administration in animal breast cancer models have confirmed expression of the TK gene product and shown evidence of tumor regression (48-50). Activity has been demonstrated with nonreplicating adenoviral vectors, AAVs and retroviral vectors (48, 49, 51). It has also been reported that double transfer of GDEPT suicide genes allows the activation of two distinct types of prodrugs. For murine mammary tumors, the antitumor effect mediated by two different suicide gene systems, CD and cytochrome P-450 2B1, is more efficient than either system alone (52).

To date, two clinical trials are using GDEPT as a treatment for breast cancer. A phase I clinical trial of erbB-2-directed suicide gene expression was designed to test the safety and efficacy of a tumor-specific prodrug activation therapy (53). In this study, the genetic prodrug activation was specifically targeted to *ERBB2*-overexpressing breast cancer cells by use of a therapeutic cassette that contains the *E. coli* CD gene driven by the tumor-specific erbB-2 promoter, thus allowing activation of 5-fluorocytosine to the active cytotoxic agent 5-fluorouracil only within tumor cells that express the oncogene. Twelve postmenopausal breast cancer patients with multiple, well-demarcated skin metastases received a direct intratumoral injection of a plasmid construct combined with

systemic administration of prodrug. The results of this study were encouraging; the approach was shown to be safe and resulted in targeted expression of the CD gene in 90% of cases. Suicide gene expression was specifically restricted to *ERBB2*-positive tumor cells. Tumor reduction was shown in 4 of 12 cases.

The second clinical trial was designed to test the safety of MetXia®-P450, a novel recombinant retroviral vector that encodes the human cytochrome P-450 type 2B6 gene (*CYP2B6*) in patients with cutaneous metastasis from advanced breast cancer or melanoma (54). Cytochrome P-450 enzymes are primarily expressed in the liver and convert the prodrug cyclophosphamide to an active phosphoramide mustard and acrolein. MetXia® was safe and well tolerated. In total, 12 patients with breast cancer and melanoma received three dose levels of MetXia®-P-450. One patient with breast cancer had a partial response, 4 patients had stable disease and the rest had progressive disease. A third clinical trial of retroviral HSV-TK gene transfer into breast cancer tumor tissues and treatment with ganciclovir is ongoing (Favrot).

Combination of radiotherapy and suicide gene therapy has also been proposed to be advantageous. It is hypothesized that radiation-induced cellular membrane damage may facilitate the transfer of cytotoxic nucleotide analogues from HSV-TK-expressing cells to neighboring nontransduced cells. This combined approach has been shown to delay local tumor growth and prolong survival in a mouse mammary tumor model (55). These results were attributed to the induction of a potent local and systemic immune response, as demonstrated by the abundance of CD4+ cells in the primary tumor. However, to date this combination has not been examined in clinical trials.

Bcl-2 targeting

One of the functions of Bcl-2 protein is to block apoptosis (56), the final common pathway that leads to cell death in response to DNA damage or microtubule disturbance triggered by cytotoxic agents or radiation. Overexpression of Bcl-2 has been shown to confer multidrug resistance to chemotherapy in several cancers, including breast cancer (57, 58), in which Bcl-2 is overexpressed in 50-75% of cases (59, 60). A Bcl-2 antisense compound, oblimersen (G3139, Genasense®; Genta) is an 18-base phosphorothioate oligonucleotide complementary (antisense) to the first 6 codons of Bcl-2 mRNA, which leads to a selective decrease in concentrations of Bcl-2 mRNA and protein levels (61). Results from in vitro and xenograft models have demonstrated the activity of oblimersen in decreasing Bcl-2 mRNA and protein levels, inducing apoptosis and sensitizing tumors to chemotherapy. While effective when used alone in lymphoma models, the effect of oblimersen monotherapy in solid tumor models is modest. However, antitumor activity is significantly enhanced in the presence of external apoptotic signals provided by the addition of chemotherapeutic agents, such as docetaxel, dacarbazine or anthracyclines (62-65).

A phase I trial of oblimersen and weekly docetaxel in patients with advanced breast cancer indicated that it is well tolerated and clinically active even in heavily pretreated patients (66). Most of the oblimersen-related toxicities reported in this study were typical of those reported with other phosphorothioate oligonucleotides (PS oligos), and included fatigue, thrombocytopenia, aPTT prolongation and transaminase elevation. These toxicities are likely related to the polyanionic nature of the phosphorothioate backbones. In this early study, clinical efficacy was not the primary endpoint. Only 7 breast cancer patients were evaluated for response, 5 of whom had previous exposure to taxanes. Two patients achieved partial responses (lasting for 4 and 6.5 months) and 2 patients with nonmeasurable disease remained progression-free for 4 and 9 months. The durable tumor response (6.5 months) in the patient with paclitaxel-resistant disease was encouraging.

RAS targeting

One of the most frequent abnormalities identified in breast cancer involves the proto-oncogene *RAS*. The *RAS* family includes *HRAS*, *KRAS* and *NRAS*. The proteins encoded by members of the *RAS* family serve as critical components of the cell signaling pathway by acting as cell-surface receptors. They are involved in the control of cellular proliferation, differentiation and cell death (67, 68).

ISIS-2503 is a 20-base antisense drug that specifically inhibits the expression of H-Ras mRNA and protein (69, 70). Results of a phase I trial with ISIS-2503 in combination with gemcitabine in patients with advanced solid tumors indicated that antisense therapy combined with chemotherapy was well tolerated and clinically active (71). Nineteen patients were treated with a fixed gemcitabine dose of 1000 mg/m² on days 1 and 8 and two escalating doses of ISIS-2503 (4 and 6 mg/kg/day) as a 14-day continuous infusion starting on day 1. Cycles were repeated every 3 weeks. Only 1 patient with advanced breast cancer was enrolled in this study and a partial response was obtained (at dose level 2) in this patient, who had received extensive previous treatment (including stem cell transplantation). Subcutaneous metastases decreased by 80% and liver metastases shrank by 50% in this patient.

In a phase II trial, weekly paclitaxel 80 mg/m² in combination with ISIS-2503 at the recommended phase II single-agent dose (6 mg/kg/day by 14-day continuous i.v. infusion repeated every 21 days) was administered to 25 patients with metastatic breast cancer (72). Prior adjuvant therapy was permitted, including prior taxanes if tumor progression occurred more than 6 months later. Treatment was continued for 12 weeks and could continue until disease progression if toxicity was acceptable. Intrapatient dose escalation of ISIS-2503 to 10 mg/kg/day was allowed if toxicity permitted. Three patients had received adjuvant paclitaxel. Four patients had disease stabilization and 8 patients had a partial response.

Treatment was well tolerated, with no patient discontinuing treatment due to toxicity. Larger trials of this antisense agent are planned.

Manipulation of drug resistance

The multidrug resistance gene (MDR1) encodes the 170-kDa P-glycoprotein (P-gp), which acts as an adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-dependent transmembrane efflux pump for a diverse group of chemotherapeutic agents, as well as other compounds (73). Agents pumped out of the cell by P-gp170 include the anthracyclines, vincristine, etoposide and paclitaxel. MDR1 is normally expressed on the atypical surface of secretory cells in the liver, colon and kidney, and the endothelium of the brain, testis and lung. Overexpression of the MDR1 gene is one of the most common known mechanisms by which cancer becomes resistant to chemotherapy. To overcome P-gpmediated drug resistance, anti-MDR1 hammerhead ribozymes were recently developed and delivered to breast cancer cell lines using a retroviral vector containing an RNA polymerase III promoter, resulting in reversal of chemoresistance (74). However, the most important clinical application of MDR1 gene transfer is represented by the insertion of the gene into normal marrow stem cells to produce a population of cells that can be selected for resistance to systemically administered chemotherapeutic agents. In one study, the percentage of the MDR1 gene-modifying peripheral blood cells increased from 1% to 7% in reconstituted mice after drug treatment (75). An advantage of this approach is that it may permit higher doses of chemotherapy without the bone marrow suppression induced by chemotherapy.

So far, several protocols for *MDR1* have been approved for the treatment of patients with breast cancer (76-78). The M.D. Anderson Cancer Center performed retroviral gene transfer without using cytokines. *In vitro* transduction efficiency was 2.8% with the solution method and 5.6% with the stromal method, detected by *in situ* PCR. However, 3-4 weeks after transplantation, direct PCR assay of peripheral blood leukocytes in patients showed positive results in 0/10 with the solution method and 5/8 with the stromal method. These data show insufficient transduction efficiency without cytokines (76).

The National Cancer Institute (NCI) also reported the results of a clinical trial of retroviral *MDR1* gene therapy. In this trial, the *MDR1* gene was transferred into bone marrow mononuclear cells or peripheral blood stem cells stimulated by IL-3, IL-6 and stem cell factor (SCF). The *ex vivo* transduction efficiency was 0.2-0.5%. The investigators treated transplanted patients with paclitaxel (77). Another group at Columbia University also transferred *MDR1* genes into bone marrow mononuclear cells or peripheral blood cells stimulated by IL-3, IL-6 and SCF. They showed that 20-70% of erythroid burst-forming units (BFU-E) or colony-forming units granulocytemacrophage (CFU-GM) colonies were positive for *MDR1* by PCR (78).

Immunomodulatory approaches

It is well known that a state of immune anergy or active immune suppression is often associated with cancer. Immunomodulatory defects involving effector cell function, natural killer (NK) cells, lymphokine-activated killer cells, tumor production of immune-inhibitory cytokines and diminished dendritic cell function have been well demonstrated in breast cancer. However, attempts to correct such defects in human clinical trials involving nonspecific immune modulation with BCG (Bacillus Calmette-Guerin) have not demonstrated evidence of activity in breast cancer. Recently, specific gene-directed immunological approaches have been pursued and include: 1) transfer of cytokine genes; and 2) transfer of antigen molecule genes. Despite the therapeutic success achieved in numerous preclinical immune-gene therapy studies, only a few of these approaches have entered human trials for the treatment of breast cancer.

Cytokine genes

Cytokines can inhibit the development and progression of tumors. Therapy with immune-stimulating cytokines is often tested, but it is usually associated with dose-limiting toxicities. High local cytokine production has the advantage that it is most effective, without toxicities associated with large, systemic doses. For this approach, recombinant adenoviruses expressing a variety of cytokine genes have been tested in breast cancer models. An adenovirus expressing TNF- α has been used in murine models of breast cancer to induce complete regression of spontaneous mammary tumors (79). Although the vector was injected into the tumor, systemic levels of TNF- α were achieved and resulted in significant toxicity. Retroviral transfer of the TNF- α gene and Neo gene into tumor cells ex vivo and subcutaneous injection of tumor cells may activate the systemic immune response to tumor cells (80).

Retroviral transfer of the IL-12 gene into skin fibroblasts of patients *ex vivo*, followed by injection of the fibroblasts into tumor tissues, may activate a tumor-specific immune response. In a phase I study, 9 cases with advanced solid tumors, including breast cancer, were treated by Kang *et al.* (81). Reduction of tumor at injection sites was shown in 4 cases, and reduction of tumor at remote sites was achieved in 1 melanoma case. There were no side effects other than slight pain at the injection sites.

In animal models of breast cancer, a substantial number of responses were observed following intratumoral injection of adenoviral IL-2 gene therapy (82-84). The data suggested that IL-2 activity is mediated by induction and expansion of an antigen-specific T-cell response. Stewart *et al.* conducted a phase I trial in which an E1/E3-deleted adenovirus encoding IL-2 (AdCAIL-2) was directly injected into subcutaneous deposits of melanoma or breast cancer (85). Twenty-three patients were injected at 7 dose levels. The side effects noted were minor and included local inflammation at the site of injection in 60%

of patients. Postinjection biopsies demonstrated tumor necrosis and lymphocytic infiltration, with the predominant tumor-infiltrating cells being CD3+ and CD8+. Combined transfection of the IL-2 gene with the HSV-TK gene in a murine breast cancer model revealed greater antitumor activity with the combined IL-2/TK gene followed by ganciclovir compared with the IL-2 gene alone (86). The combination of direct tumor killing from the TK gene product and generation of tumor-specific immune responses may provide a local environment that optimizes the gene therapy effect.

Antigen molecule genes

Several breast tumor antigens have already been identified based on the biology of breast cancer (87). These include mucin-1 (MUC-1), HER-2/neu, carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), p53, sialyl-Tn (STn), the melanoma-associated (cancer testis) antigens MAGE, BAGE, GAGE and XAGE, and the putative universal tumor antigens survivin and telomerase (hTERT). Of these antigens, MUC-1 has been most extensively tested as a cancer vaccine. MUC-1 is a high-molecular-weight glycoprotein rich in serine and threonine residues that are O-glycosylated. Expression of MUC-1 is increased in breast, ovarian and other adenocarcinomas, and altered glycosylation results in exposure of novel peptide epitopes and the expression of tumor-associated carbohydrate residues, such as Thomsen-Freidenreich and STn antigens.

Multiple clinical trials have tested the safety and bioactivity of vaccines that target MUC-1-derived peptide or carbohydrate epitopes. One group of trials tested Theratope®, a cancer vaccine that was designed by Biomira incorporating a synthetic STn antigen that emulates the carbohydrate seen on human tumors (88). Two phase II trials in 50 breast cancer patients compared the STn-KLH vaccine with and without a single low-dose infusion of cyclophosphamide used as an immunomodulator prior to initiation of treatment (89). Humoral immune responses were higher in patients who had received lowdose i.v. cyclophosphamide compared with patients who had received no cyclophosphamide or oral cyclophosphamide. There was a statistically significant survival difference between all patients treated with the STn-KLH vaccine (overall median survival = 19.1 months; n=50) and the retrospective control patients (overall median survival = 9.2 months; n=104). Furthermore, patients who received i.v. cyclophosphamide prior to the STn-KLH vaccine had median survival rates close to 3 times those of patients in a retrospective, frequency-matched control group who received conventional therapies (i.v. cyclophosphamide 26.5 months vs. 9.2 months in the control group). The trials reported minimal toxicity with local reactions at the injection site and some flu-like symptoms. On the basis of the phase II trial results, a phase III clinical trial of the STn-KLH vaccine has been proposed. The definitive phase III trial comparing the outcome of patients with metastatic breast cancer receiving

vaccinations with Theratope® versus vaccination with the nonspecific immune stimulants keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) and Detox-B stable emulsion (Detox-B) (now called Enhanzyn Immunostimulant) was closed to enrollment on March 30, 2001 (90). Over 1,000 women with metastatic breast cancer were enrolled in the program. 34% of whom were on concurrent hormone therapy. Although no differences in time to disease progression (TTP) or overall survival (OS) emerged in an intent-totreat analysis, an exploratory analysis revealed a trend toward improved TTP and OS in those participants on hormone therapy. Median OS was greater in the subgroup of patients receiving hormone therapy who developed higher than median IgG titers specific for naturally clustered STn antigens (asialo-ovine submaxillary mucin [OSM]), with a median OS of 41.1 months versus 25.4 months. Follow-up continues.

Another group of trials tested TG1031 (VV-MUC1-IL-2), an attenuated recombinant vaccinia virus containing sequences coding for human MUC-1 and the immunostimulatory cytokine IL-2. Scholl et al. performed a phase I study in patients with metastatic breast cancer using TG1031 (91). A significant T-cell proliferative response against MUC-1 following vaccination was observed in 1 of 9 advanced metastatic breast cancer patients. In addition, evidence of MUC-1-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) activity induced by VV-MUC1-IL-2 was seen. To confirm these results, an open-label, randomized study comparing two dose levels, 5×10^6 and 5 x 107 pfu, was carried out in 31 metastatic breast cancer patients (92). Two of 31 (6%) patients achieved a partial response, 1 in each treatment group. No complete responses were obtained and stable disease was the best overall response observed in 15 (48%) patients (7 in the 5×10^6 pfu group and 8 in the 5×10^7 pfu group). The TG1031 vaccine, based on a replication-competent vaccinia virus, suffered some regulatory issues. Patients were required to be isolated in a specialized hospital facility for 1 week, until 2 consecutive PCR evaluations of blood, sputum, urine and feces showed no evidence of viral dissemination. A safer and potentially more effective new vaccinia virus, TG4010, was therefore developed. The recombinant vector contained in TG4010 is based on MVA, a nonpropagative, highly attenuated vaccinia virus. Although retaining immunogenicity, MVA lost its ability to replicate in most mammalian cells. In patients with advanced breast cancer, TG4010 was tested as a single agent at two doses, but no objective clinical responses were obtained (93).

Conclusions

Significant advances in understanding the molecular biology of cancer have opened up a new field of study in which potential therapeutic gains may accrue from the introduction of genetic sequences into tumors or normal tissue. This approach has yielded dramatic therapeutic responses *in vitro* and in some animal models, but, as yet, has not had a major impact on human cancer treat-

ment. The generation of improved delivery systems and refinement of the mechanism of controlling gene expression from them will be a key step in the clinical development of gene therapy. In addition, integration of these new approaches into current therapeutic regimens using surgery, radiotherapy and chemotherapy is likely to yield the most immediate evidence of therapeutic efficacy. It is likely that future trials of gene therapy will continue to enroll significant numbers of patients with breast cancer.

References

- 1. Buchschacher, G.L. Jr. *Introduction to retroviruses and retroviral vectors.* Somat Cell Mol Genet 2001, 26: 1-11.
- 2. Hlavary, J., Stracke, A., Klein, D., Salmons, B., Gunzburg, W.H., Renner, M. *Multiple modifications allow high titer production of retroviral vectors carrying heterologous regulatory elements.* J Virol 2004, 78: 1384-92.
- 3. Russell, W.C. *Update on adenovirus and its vectors.* J Gen Virol 2000, 81: 2573-604.
- 4. Seth, P. Adenoviral vectors. Adv Exp Med Biol 2000, 465: 13-22.
- 5. Kotin, R.M., Berns, K.I. Organization of adeno-associated virus vector for high frequency integration, expression and rescue of genes in mammalian cells. Mol Cell Biol 1989, 5: 3251-60.
- 6. Linden, R.M., Berns, K.I. *Molecular biology of adeno-associated viruses*. Contrib Microbiol 2000, 4: 68-84.
- 7. Ali, M., Lemoine, N.R., Ring, C.J.A. *The use of DNA viruses as vectors for gene therapy*. Gene Ther 1994, 1: 367-84.
- 8. Oehmig, A., Fraefel, C., Breakefield, X. *Update on herpesvirus amplicon vectors*. Mol Ther 2004, 10: 630-43.
- 9. Harrington, K.J., Bateman, A.R., Melcher, A.A., Ahmed, A., Vile, R.G. *Cancer gene therapy: Part 1. Vector development and regulation of gene expression.* Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2002, 14: 3-16.
- 10. Felgner, P.L. Nonviral strategies for gene therapy. Sci Am 1997, 276: 102-6.
- 11. Prives, C., Hall, P.A. *The p53 pathway.* J Pathol 1999, 187: 112-26.
- 12. Stewart, Z.A., Pietenpol, J.A. *p53 signaling and cell cycle checkpoints*. Chem Res Toxicol 2001, 14: 243-63.
- 13. Volgestein, B., Lane, D., Levine, A.J. Surfing the p53 network. Nature 2000, 408: 307-10.
- 14. Coles, C., Condie, A., Chetty, U., Steel, C.M., Evans, H.J., Prosser, J. *p53 mutations in breast cancer.* Cancer Res 1992, 52: 5291-8.
- 15. Lacroix, M., Toillon, R.A., Leclercq, G. *p53 and breast cancer, an update.* Endocr Relat Cancer 2006, 13: 293-325.
- 16. Thor, A.D., Moore, D.H. II, Edgerton, S.M. et al. *Accumulation of p53 tumor suppressor gene protein: An independent marker of prognosis in breast cancers.* J Natl Cancer Inst 1992, 84: 845-55.
- 17. Andersen, T.I., Borresen, A.L. *Alterations of the TP53 gene* as potential prognostic marker in breast carcinomas. Diagn Mol Pathol 1995, 4: 203-11.

- 18. Lesoon-Wood, L.A., Kim, W.H., Kleinman, H.K. et al. *Systemic gene therapy with p53 reduces growth and metastases of a malignant human breast cancer in nude mice.* Hum Gene Ther 1995, 6: 395.
- 19. Nielsen, L.L., Gurnani, M., Syed, J. et al. *Efficacy of p53 ade-novirus-mediated gene therapy against human breast cancer xenografts*. Cancer Gene Ther 1997, 4: 129.
- 20. Seth, P., Katayose, D., Li, Z. et al. A recombinant adenovirus expressing wild type p53 induces apoptosis in drug-resistant human breast cancer cells: A gene therapy approach for drug-resistant cancers. Cancer Gene Ther 1997, 4: 383.
- 21. Xu, M., Kumar, D., Srinivas, S. et al. *Parenteral gene therapy with p53 inhibits human breast tumors in vivo through a bystander mechanism without evidence of toxicity.* Hum Gene Ther 1997. 8: 177.
- 22. Blagosklonny, M.V., el-Deiry, W.S. *In vitro evaluation of a p53-expressing adenovirus as an anticancer drug.* Int J Cancer 1996, 67: 386-92.
- 23. Nielsen, L.L., Lipari, P., Dell, J., Gurnani, M., Hajian, G. Adenovirus-mediated p53 gene therapy and paclitaxel have synergistic efficacy in models of human head and neck, ovarian, prostate, and breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 1998, 4: 836-46.
- 24. Lebedeva, S., Bagdasarova, S., Tyler, T., Mu, X., Wilson, D.R., Gjerset, R.A. *Tumor suppression and therapy sensitization of localized and metastatic breast cancer by adenovirus p53*. Hum Gene Ther 2001, 12: 763-72.
- 25. Dummer, R., Bergh, J., Karllson, Y. et al. *Biological activity and safety of adenoviral vector-expressed wild-type p53 after intratumoral injection in melanoma and breast cancer patients with p53-overexpressing tumors.* Cancer Gene Ther 2000, 7: 1069-76.
- 26. Tolcher, A.W., Hao, D., de Bono, J. et al. *Phase I, pharma-cokinetic, and pharmacodynamic study of intravenously administered Ad5CMV-p53, an adenoviral vector containing the wild-type p53 gene, in patients with advanced cancer.* J Clin Oncol 2006, 24: 2052-8.
- 27. Cristofanilli, M., Krishnamurthy, S., Guerra, L. et al. *A non-replicating adenoviral vector that contains the wild-type p53 transgene combined with chemotherapy for primary breast cancer: Safety, efficacy, and biologic activity of a novel gene-therapy approach.* Cancer 2006, 107: 935-44.
- 28. Yu, D., Scorsone, K., Hung, M.C. Adenovirus type 5 E1A gene products act as transformation suppressors of the neu oncogene. Mol Cell Biol 1991, 11: 1745-50.
- 29. Yu, D., Suen, T.C., Yan, D.H., Chang, L.S., Hung, M.C. *Transcriptional repression of the neu proto-oncogene by the adenovirus 5 E1A gene products*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1990, 7: 4499-503.
- 30. Yan, D.H., Chang, L.S., Hung, M.C. Repressed expression of the HER-2/c-erb-2 proto-oncogene by the adenovirus E1A gene products. Oncogene 1991, 6: 343-5.
- 31. Cook, J.L., May, D.L., Lewis, A.M. Jr., Walker, T.A. Adenovirus E1A gene induction of susceptibility to lysis by natural killer cells and activated macrophages in infected rodent cells. J Virol 1987, 61: 3510-20.
- 32. Duerksen-Hughes, P., Wold, W.S., Gooding, L.R. Adenovirus E1A renders infected cells sensitive to cytolysis by tumor necrosis factor. J Immunol 1989, 143: 4193-200.

- 33. Routes, J.M., Cook, J.L. *E1A gene expression induces susceptibility to killing by NK cells following immortalization but not adenovirus infection of human cells.* Virology 1995, 210: 421-8.
- 34. Frisch, S.M., Dolter, K.E. *Adenovirus E1a-mediated tumor suppression by a c-erbB-2/neu-independent mechanism.* Cancer Res 1995, 55: 5551-5.
- 35. Lowe, S.W., Ruley, H.E. Stabilization of the p53 tumor suppressor is induced by adenovirus 5 E1A and accompanies apoptosis. Genes Dev 1993, 7: 535-45.
- 36. Lowe, S.W., Jacks, T., Housman, D.E., Ruley, H.E. Abrogation of oncogene-associated apoptosis allows transformation of p53-deficient cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994, 91: 2026-30.
- 37. Ueno, N.T., Yu, D., Hung, M.C. Chemosensitization of HER-2/neu-overexpressing human breast cancer cells to paclitaxel (Taxol) by adenovirus type 5 E1A. Oncogene 1997, 15: 953-60.
- 38. Ueno, N.T., Bartholomeusz, C., Herrmann, J.L. et al. *E1A-mediated paclitaxel sensitization in HER-2/neu-overexpressing ovarian cancer SKOV3.ip1 through apoptosis involving the caspase-3 pathway.* Clin Cancer Res 2000. 6: 250-9.
- 39. Sanchez-Prieto, R., Quintanilla, M., Cano, A. et al. *Carcinoma cell lines become sensitive to DNA-damaging agents by the expression of the adenovirus E1A gene.* Oncogene 1996, 13: 1083-92.
- 40. Wright, M., Grim, J., Deshane, J. et al. *An intracellular anti-* erB-2 single-chain antibody is specifically cytotoxic to human breast carcinoma cells overexpressing erbB-2. Gene Therapy 1997, 4: 317-22.
- 41. Chang, J.Y., Xia, W., Shao, R. et al. *The tumor suppression activity of E1A in HER-2/neu-overexpression breast cancer.* Oncogene 1997, 14: 561-8.
- 42. Ueno, N.T., Yu, D., Hung, M.C. *E1A: Tumor suppressor or oncogene? Preclinical and clinical investigations of E1A gene therapy.* Breast Cancer 2001, 8: 285-93.
- 43. Hortobagyi, G.N., Ueno, N.T., Xia, W. et al. *Cationic liposome mediated E1A gene transfer to human breast and ovarian cancer cells: A phase I clinical trial.* J Clin Oncol 2001, 19: 3422-33.
- 44. Yoo, G.H., Hung, M.C., Lopez-Berestein, G. et al. *Phase I trial of intratumoral liposome E1A gene therapy in patients with recurrent breast and head and neck cancer.* Clin Cancer Res 2001, 7: 1237-45.
- 45. Niculescu-Duvaz, I., Springer, C.J. Introduction to the background, principles and state of the art in suicide gene thrapy. Mol Biotechnol 2005, 30: 71-88.
- 46. Culver, K., Ram, Z., Walbridge, S. et al. *In vivo gene transfer with retroviral vector-producing cells for the treatment of experimental brain tumours*. Science 1992, 256: 1550-2.
- 47. Freeman, S.M., Ramesh, R., Marrogi, A.J. *Immune system in suicide-gene therapy*. Lancet 1997, 349: 2-3.
- 48. Link, C.J. Jr., Kolb, E.M., Muldoon, R.R. *Preliminary in vitro efficacy and toxicities studies of the herpes simplex thymidine kinase gene system for the treatment of breast cancer.* Hybridoma 1995, 14: 143-7.
- 49. Haberkorn, U., Khazaie, K., Morr, J., Altmann, A., Muller, M., van Kaick, G. *Ganciclovir uptake in human mammary carcinoma*

cells expressing herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase. Nucl Med Biol 1998, 25: 367-73.

- 50. Kwong, Y.L., Chen, S.H., Kosai, K., Finegold, M.J., Woo, S.L. *Adenoviral-mediated suicide gene therapy for hepatic metastases of breast cancer.* Cancer Gene Ther 1996, 3: 339-44.
- 51. Li, Z.B., Zeng, Z.J., Chen, Q., Luo, S.Q., Hu, W.X. Recombinant AAV-mediated HSVtk gene transfer with direct intratumoral injections and Tet-On regulation for implanted human breast cancer. BMC Cancer 2006, 6: 66.
- 52. Kammertoens, T., Gelbmann, W., Karle, P. et al. *Combined chemotherapy of murine mammary tumors by local activation of the prodrugs ifosfamide and 5-fluorocytosine*. Cancer Gene Ther 2000, 7: 1086-99.
- 53. Pandha, H.S., Martin, L.A., Rigg, A. et al. *Genetic prodrug activation therapy for breast cancer: A phase I clinical trial of erbB-2-directed suicide gene expression*. J Clin Oncol 1999, 17: 2180-218
- 54. BrayBrooke, J.P., Slade, A., Deplanque, G. et al. *Phase I study of MetXia-P450 gene therapy and oral cyclophosphamide for patients with advanced breast cancer or melanoma.* Clin Cancer Res 2005, 11: 1512-20.
- 55. Vlachaki, M.T., Chhikara, M., Aguilar, L. et al. Enhanced therapeutic effect of multiple injections of HSV-TK + GCV gene therapy in combination with ionizing radiation in a mouse mammary tumor model. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2001, 51: 1008-17.
- 56. Reed, J.C. *Bcl-2* and the regulation of programmed cell death. J Cell Biol 1994, 124: 1-6.
- 57. Reed, J.C. *Dysregulation of apoptosis in cancer.* J Clin Oncol 1999, 17: 2941-53.
- 58. Reed, J.C. Regulation of apoptosis by bcl-2 family proteins and its role in cancer and chemoresistance. Curr Opin Oncol 1995, 7: 541-6.
- 59. Bhargava, V., Kell, D.L., van de Rijn, M. et al. *Bcl-2 immunoreactivity in breast carcinoma correlates with hormone receptor positivity.* Am J Pathol 1994, 145: 535-40.
- 60. Silvestrini, R., Veneroni, S., Daidone, M. *The bcl-2 protein: A prognostic indicator strongly related to p53 protein in lymph node negative breast cancer patients.* J Natl Cancer Inst 1994, 86: 499-504.
- 61. Raynaud, F.I., Orr, R.M., Goddard, P.M. et al. *Pharmacokinetics of G3139, a phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotide antisense to bcl-2, after intravenous administration or continuous subcutaneous infusion to mice.* J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1997, 281: 420-7.
- 62. Morris, M.J., Cordon Cardo, C., Kelly, W.K. et al. *Safety and biologic activity of intravenous BCL-2 antisense oligonucleotide* (G3139) and taxane chemotherapy in patients with advanced cancer. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol 2005, 13: 6-13.
- 63. Lopes de Menezes, D.E., Hudon, N., McIntosh, N., Mayer, L.D. Molecular and pharmacokinetic properties associated with the therapeutics of bcl-2 antisense oligonucleotide G3139 combined with free and liposomal doxorubicin. Clin Cancer Res 2000, 6: 2891-902.
- 64. Natha, R., Esteva, F.J. *Bcl-2 antisense oligonucleotides: A potential novel strategy for the treatment of breast cancer.* Semin Oncol 2003, 30: 143-9.

- 65. Yang, D., Ling, Y., Almazan, M., Guo, R., Murray, A., Brown, B., Lippman, M.E. *Tumor regression of human breast carcinomas by combination therapy of anti-bcl-2 antisense oligonucleotide and chemotherapeutic drugs.* Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res (AACR) 1999, 40: 729.
- 66. Marshall, J., Chen, H., Yang, D. et al. *A phase I trial of a Bcl-2 antisense (G3139) and weekly docetaxel in patients with advanced breast cancer and other solid tumors.* Ann Oncol 2004, 15: 1274-83.
- 67. Rebollo, A., Martinez, A.C. Ras proteins: Recent advances and new functions. Blood 1999, 94: 2971-80.
- 68. Hall, A. *The cellular functions of small GRP-binding proteins*. Science 1990, 249: 635-40.
- 69. Monia, B.P., Johnston, J.F., Ecker, D.J. et al. *Selective inhibition of mutant Ha-ras mRNA expression by antisense oligonucleotides*. J Biol Chem 1992, 267: 19954-62.
- 70. Geary, R.S., Leeds, J.M., Henry, S.P. et al. *Antisense oligonucleotide inhibitors for the treatment of cancer: 1. Pharmacokinetic properties of phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotides.* Anticancer Drug Des 1997, 12: 383-93.
- 71. Adjei, A.A., Dy, G.K., Erlichman, C. et al. *A phase I trial of ISIS 2503, an antisense inhibitor of H-ras, in combination with gemcitabine in patients with advanced cancer.* Clin Cancer Res 2003, 9: 115-23.
- 72. Saleh, M.N., Irwin, D., Burton, G. et al. *Phase 2 trial of ISIS 2503, an antisense inhibitor of H-ras, in combination with weekly paclitaxel in the treatment of patients with metastatic breast cancer.* Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) 2003, 22: Abst 829.
- 73. Sugimoto, Y., Tsuruo, T. DNA mediated transfer and cloning of a human multidrug-resistant gene of adryamicin-resistant myelogenous leukaemia K562. Cancer Res 1987, 47: 2620-5.
- 74. Kobayashi, H., Takemura, Y., Miyachi, H. *Novel approaches to reversing anti-cancer drug resistance using gene-specific therapeutics*. Hum Cell 2001, 14: 172-84.
- 75. Sorrentino, B.P., Brandt, S.J., Bodine, D., Gottesman, M., Pastan, I., Cline, A., Nienhuis, A.W. Selection of drug-resistant bone marrow cells in vivo after retroviral transfer of human MDR1. Science 1992, 257: 99-103.
- 76. Deisseroth, A.B., Holmes, F., Hortobagyi, G., Champlin, R. Use of safety-modified retroviruses to introduce chemotherapy resistance sequences into normal hematopoietic cells for chemoprotection during the therapy of breast cancer: A pilot trial. Hum Gene Ther 1996, 7: 401-16.
- 77. Cowan, K.H., Moscow, J.A., Huang, H. et al. *Paclitaxel chemotherapy after autologous stem-cell transplantation and engraftment of hematopoietic cells transduced with a retrovirus containing the multidrug resistance complementary DNA(MDR1)in metastatic breast cancer patients.* Clin Cancer Res 1999, 5: 1619-28.
- 78. Hesdorffer, C., Ayello, J., Ward, M. et al. *Phase I trial of retroviral-mediated transfer of the human MDR1 gene as marrow chemoprotection in patients undergoing high-dose chemotherapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation.* J Clin Oncol 1998, 16: 165-72.
- 79. Marr, R.A., Addison, C.L., Snider, D. et al. Humour immunotherapy using an adenoviral vector expressing a mem-

- brane-hound mutant of murine TNF alfa. Gene Ther 1997, 4: 1181.
- 80. Immunization of cancer patients using autologous cancer cells modified by insertion of the gene for tumor necrosis factor. Hum Gene Ther 1992, 3: 57-73.
- 81. Kang, W.K., Park, C., Yoon, H.L. et al. *Interleukin 12 gene therapy of cancer by peritumoral injection of transduced autologous fibroblasts: Outcome of a phase I study.* Hum Gene Ther 2001, 12: 671-84.
- 82. Wilkinson, N.W., Euhus, D.M. Adenoviral-mediated gene transfer of interleukin-2 in a human breast cancer cell line and a fresh primary breast cancer culture. J Invest Surg 2003, 16: 203-8.
- 83. Addison, C.L., Braciak, T., Ralston, R., Muller, W.J., Gauldie, J., Graham, F.L. *Intratumoral injection of an adenovirus expressing interleukin 2 induces regression and immunity in a murine breast cancer model.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995. 92: 8522-6.
- 84. Coveney, E., Clary, B., Iacobucci, M., Philip, R., Lyerly, K. *Active immunotherapy with transiently transfected cytokine-secreting tumor cells inhibits breast cancer metastases in tumor-bearing animals.* Surgery 1996, 120: 265-72.
- 85. Stewart, A.K., Lassam, N.J., Quirt, I.C. et al. Adenovector-mediated gene delivery of interleukin-2 in metastatic breast cancer and melanoma: Results of a phase I clinical trial. Gene Ther 1999, 6: 350-63.
- 86. Majumdar, A.S., Samuel, S., Trank, K. et al. *Efficacy of herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase in combination with cytokine gene therapy in an experimental metastatic breast cancer model.* Cancer Gene Ther 2000, 7: 1086-99.
- 87. Emens, L.A., Reilly, R.T., Jaffee, E.M. *Breast cancer vaccines: Maximizing cancer treatment by tapping into host immunity.* Endocr Relat Cancer 2005, 12: 1-17.
- 88. Morse, M.A. *Technology evaluation: Theratope, Biomira Inc.* Curr Opin Mol Ther 2000, 2: 453-8.
- 89. Miles, D., Papazisi, K. Rationale for the clinical development of STn-KLH (TheratopeR) and anti-MUC-1 vaccines in breast cancer. Clin Breast Cancer 2003, 3(Suppl. 4): S134-8.
- 90. Mayordomo, J., Tres, A., Miles, D., Finke, L., Jenkins, H. Long-term follow-up of patients concomitantly treated with hormone therapy in a prospective controlled randomized multicenter clinical study comparing STn-KLH vaccine with KLH control in stage IV breast cancer following first line chemotherapy. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) 2004, 23: Abst 188.
- 91. Scholl, S.M., Balloul, J.M., Le Goc, G. et al. *Recombinant vaccinia virus encoding human MUC1 and IL2 as immunotherapy in patients with breast cancer.* J Immunother 2000, 23: 570-80.
- 92. Scholl, S., Squiban, P., Bizouarne, S. et al. *Metastatic breast tumour regression following treatment by a gene-modified vaccinia virus expressing MUC1 and IL-2.* J Biomed Biotechnol 2003, 2003: 194-201.
- 93. Rochlitz, C., Figlin, R., Squiban, P. et al. *Phase I immunotherapy with a modified vaccinia virus (MVA) expressing human MUC1 as antigen-specific immunotherapy in patients with MUC1-positive advanced cancer.* J Gene Med 2003, 5: 690-9.